71956-4

716564

No. 71956-4-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LARRY D. DALEY, JR.,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH M. HROBSKY Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE						
D.	ARGUMENT 10						
	1.	Insufficient evidence was presented to support Mr. Daley's conviction for assault in the first degree against a generic "John Doe," as charged in Count 1 12					
		a. The assault in the first degree statute requires specific intent to assault an identified victim					
		b. The constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy and the right to a unanimous verdict require identification of an intended victim					
		c. The theory of transferred intent is inapplicable to the present case					
	2. Insufficient evidence was presented to support Mr. Daley's convictions for assault in the first degree against Detective Janes, Detective Huber, and Detective Hughey.						
	3. The proper remedy is reversal of the four convictions for assault in the first degree						
E.	CC	NCLUSION					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

United States Constitution

Amend. V
Amend. VI
Amend. XIV
Washington Constitution
Art. I, § 3
Art. I, § 9
Art. I, § 21
United States Supreme Court Decisions
Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 98 S. Ct. 2141, 57 L.Ed.2d 1 (1979)
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970) 10
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 628, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1970)
United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688, 113 S.Ct. 2849, 125 L.Ed.2d 556 (1993)
Washington Supreme Court Decisions
City of Seattle v. Slack, 113 Wn.2d 850, 784 P.2d 494 (1989) 10
State v. Coleman, 159 Wn.2d 509, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007)
State v. Deer, 175 Wn.2d 725, 287 P.3d 539 (2012)
State v. Elmi, 166 Wn.2d 209, 207 P.3d 439 (2009) 11, 12, 17

State v. Gocken, 127 Wn.2d 95, 896 P.2d 1267 (1995)						
State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 (1998) 20						
State v. Rose, 175 Wn.2d 10, 282 P.3d 1087 (2012)						
State v. Stephens, 93 Wn.2d 186, 607 P.2d 304 (1980)						
State v. Wilson, 125 Wn.2d 212, 883 P.2d 320 (1994)						
Washington Court of Appeals Decisions						
In re Detention of Keeney, 141 Wn. App. 318, 169 P.3d 852 (2007) 15						
State v. Thomas, 123 Wn. App. 771, 98 P.3d 1258 (2004)						
State v. Veliz, 176 Wn. App. 849, 298 P.3d 75 (2013)						
<u>Statutes</u>						
F.S.A. § 784.021						
Maryland Code CL § 3-202						
RCW 9A.36.011						
Other Authorities						
Akins v. United States, 679 A.2d 1017 (D.C. 1996), superseded on other grounds by Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004)						
Edmund v. State, 398 Md. 562, 921 A.2d 264 (2007) 12-13, 15						
State v. Conroy, 118 S.3d 305 (2013)						
State v. Crank. 105 Utah 332. 142 P.2d 178 (1943)						

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Insufficient evidence was presented to establish beyond a reasonable doubt the specific intent to assault an identified victim, an essential element of assault in the first degree, as charged in Count 1.
- 2. Insufficient evidence was presented to establish beyond a reasonable doubt Mr. Daley assaulted Detective Huber, Detective Janes, and Detective Hughey, as charged in Counts 2, 3, and 4.
- 3. In the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the court erred in entering Finding of Fact 7, to the extent it misinterpreted the security videotape.¹
- 4. In the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the court erred in entering Finding of Fact 8, to the extent it misinterpreted the security videotape.
- 5. In the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the court erred in entering Finding of Fact 11.
- 6. In the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the court erred in entering Finding of Fact 12.
- 7. To the extent it could be considered a Finding of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 2.

¹ A copy of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law is attached as Appendix A.

- 8. To the extent it could be considered a Finding of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 3.
- 9. To the extent it could be considered a Finding of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 4.
- 10. To the extent it could be considered a Finding of Fact and in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 5.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The constitutional right to due process requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of the crime charged. An essential element of the crime of assault in the first degree is the specific intent to assault an identified victim. Where the evidence indicated Mr. Daley fired a gun in the direction of a crowd and the State identified the alleged victim of that shooting only as a generic "John Doe," was Mr. Daley's right to due process violated when he was convicted of assault in the first degree against John Doe? (Assignments of Error 1, 5, 7)
- 2. Where the evidence did not establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Daley was the individual who fired shots in the direction of the three detectives, was Mr. Daley's right to due process further violated

when he was convicted of assault in the first degree against the three detectives? (Assignments of Error 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, 9, 10)

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 25, 2012, security for Citrus, a nightclub near the intersection of Fairview Avenue North and Yale Avenue North, Seattle, requested a police presence to help maintain order at closing time around 2 a.m. 3/25/14 RP 58; 3/27/14 RP 49, 132. Detective Benjamin Hughey, Detective Thomas Janes, and Detective Jonathan Huber responded and parked their unmarked patrol car in a parking lot for Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center across Fairview Avenue North facing the club entrance. 3/20/14 RP 32, 35, 39, 43; 3/27/14 RP 45, 49-51, 54, 132-33. When they arrived, a crowd of least 100 people was milling around in front of the club, another 50 to 75 people were in the club parking lot, and more people were coming out of the club. 3/20/14 RP 44; 3/27/14 RP 55-56, 135, 155.

Shortly after they arrived, the detectives noticed a man in a white hooded sweatshirt, later identified as Larry D. Daley, Jr., in a verbal altercation with a group of three to five other men. 3/20/14 RP 50-52; 3/27/14 RP 58, 138, 160. The group of men followed Mr. Daley as he started to cross Fairview Avenue North and walk toward Yale Avenue North and the lot where the officers were parked. 3/20/14 RP 52, 54;

3/24/14 RP 38-39; 3/27/14 RP 139, 158-59. Detective Janes heard a person, possibly Mr. Daley, yell, "What's up now, nigga?" 3/27/14 RP 60, 62, 105. Mr. Daley then stopped in the middle of the street, turned away from the patrol car to face the group, and made a distinctive motion as if drawing a gun from his waistband. 3/20/14 RP 56; 3/24/14 RP 40; 3/27/14 RP 61, 63, 139-40, 159. The detectives then saw Mr. Daley point a gun in the direction of the men who were following him and toward the club parking lot, they heard gunshots, and they saw several muzzle flashes from the gun. 3/20/14 RP 56-57, 63; 3/24/14 RP 40; 3/27/14 RP 61, 63, 140, 159.

Immediately, the detectives got out of their patrol car and pulled their guns. 3/20/14 RP 67; 3/27/14 RP 65, 141. Detective Janes ordered Mr. Daley to stop but he did not comply. 3/27/14 RP 66. Rather, Mr. Daley shot several additional rounds in the direction of the group following him and the crowd outside the club. 3/27/14 RP 110. While Mr. Daley was shooting in the direction of the group following him, Detective Hughey started to shoot at Mr. Daley. 3/27/14 RP 112-13. Mr. Daley then turned back toward the parking lot and ran directly toward the patrol car, still holding the gun in his hand. 3/20/14 RP 60, 70; 3/27/14 RP 109-10, 142, 161-62. As Mr. Daley ran past the patrol car and onto Yale Avenue North, Detective Huber started to shoot at him 3/20/14 RP 70; 3/27/14 RP

76, 144-45. According to Detective Janes, Mr. Daley was merely holding the gun and not pointing at anyone as he and two unidentified individuals ran in the detectives' direction. 3/27/14 RP 68, 163. On the other hand, Detective Huber testified that Mr. Daley held the gun pointed in his general direction whereas Detective Hughey testified that Mr. Daley raised the gun and pointed it directly at him. 3/20/14 RP 70; 3/27/14 RP 143-44, 165.

Mr. Daley ran along Yale Avenue North pursued by the detectives. Detective Hughey briefly lost sight of him and when he regained sight, Mr. Daley and a group of unidentified people were running away behind a building. 3/20/14 RP 78-79. Detective Hughey again fired at Mr. Daley and continued to chase him but again briefly lost sight. 3/20/14 RP 81, 83. Detective Hughey then heard a rustling noise and located Mr. Daley hiding under a bush. 3/20/14 RP 85.

At the same time, Detective Janes and Detective Huber were also chasing Mr. Daley. 3/27/14 RP 75. According to Detective Janes, while he and Detective Huber were very close to each other, he saw two muzzle flashes from Mr. Daley's direction and he felt and heard bullets whiz past his head. 3/27/14 RP 76, 78, 81. Very shortly thereafter, he heard Detective Hughey call out that he located Mr. Daley. 3/27/14 RP 91, 114. He then noticed a man in a white tee shirt "peeking" around a building and

two men, later identified as Montique Chambers and Charles Smith, crouching under a car. The three men were detained but they were not charged with involvement in the incident. 3/27/14 RP 94-95.

Mr. Daley was handcuffed and he indicated that his gun was under the bush. 3/20/14 RP 89-91. He suffered two gunshot wounds in his back. 3/19/14 RP 31. The detectives recovered the gun with an empty magazine. 3/20/14 RP 93; 3/27/14 RP 148. Two bullet casings and keys to a car registered to a friend of Mr. Daley were also found under the bush. 3/25/14 RP 176, 180-81, 182, 199. The car was impounded and searched, and a revolver with Mr. Daley's thumb print was found underneath the driver's seat. 3/24/14 RP 125, 127-28, 159; 3/25/14 RP 194, 197. Immediately after Mr. Daley was handcuffed, the detectives heard additional gunshots from outside the club. 3/20/14 RP 103; 3/27/14 RP 92, 116-18, 148, 168.

It was later determined that Detective Hughey fired nine bullets and Detective Huber fired seven bullets. 3/24/14 RP 98-101, 103; Ex. 12, 13, 15. Ten bullet casings were recovered from the middle of Fairview Avenue North; three casings matched the two casings found under the bush, all of which were fired from the gun found under the bush, four casings were of the same caliber but not necessarily fired from the same

gun, and three casings were of a different caliber. 3/26/14 RP 72-75; Ex. 15, 56, 57.

Darren Lenz, head of security for Citrus, described the incident differently. While escorting an unruly patron outside the club, he heard a gunshot and he saw a man running across Fairview Avenue North in the direction of the parked patrol car. 3/25/14 RP 52-53, 60, 62. The running man was followed by "other individuals," including one man with braided hair wearing a white tee shirt. 3/25/14 RP 63; Ex. 50 at 3. The man in the tee shirt then turned back towards the club and deliberately fired a gun in the direction of the club parking lot. 3/25/14 RP 63, 65-68, 70-71; Ex. 50 at 3-4. A second man wearing a plaid shirt came up to the man in the tee shirt and he fired eight or nine shots in the direction of the club parking lot. 3/25/14 RP 74-75; Ex. 50 at 4. The two men then ran across the street in the direction of the parked patrol car. 3/25/14 RP 75; Ex. 50 at 4-5.

Robert McCord, a Citrus employee, testified that a "big brawl" erupted inside the club and several smaller fights broke out in the club parking lot. 3/25/14 RP 116, 122-23. While the parking lot fights were going on, he observed a man run across Fairview Avenue North followed by three to six people. 3/25/14 RP 126-27. He heard one round of shots as the people were running across the street and followed very shortly thereafter by a second round of shots from across the street. 3/25/14 RP

129-30. At trial he testified that he did not see the shooter of the first round of shots, but in a pre-trial interview, he stated that the first man shot towards the club while backing up in the middle of the street and then turned and continued to run across the street. 3/25/14 RP 144-45. He did not provide a description of the shooter.

David Hallmon was at Citrus to with his cousin and his cousin's friends. 3/25/14 RP 4. After last call, he went to the parking lot and waited for his cousin and friends to leave the club. 3/25/14 RP 10-11. While waiting, he heard a "couple of shots," which sounded as if they were fired in front of the club. 3/25/14 RP 13. He crouched between two cars and three to five minutes later, he heard another series of about eight shots that sounded like multiple guns and he was struck in his left arm by a bullet. 3/25/14 RP 13, 15, 18, 21, 28. He did not see anyone with a gun. 3/25/14 RP 23. He was taken to a hospital where several bullet fragments were removed but he did not know whether the fragments were tested. 3/25/14 RP 23-24, 39.

Montique Chambers, Charles Smith, Salud DiVito, and Lee Bentley arrived together at Citrus and parked on Fairview Avenue North across from the club. 3/26/14 RP 4-5, 7, 17; 3/31/14 RP 6. They left shortly before closing time and as they were walking to their car, Mr. Chambers and Mr. Smith heard gunshots from behind. 3/26/14 RP 9, 17-

18; 3/31/14 RP 10-12. Mr. Chambers ran towards the car and heard a second volley of gunshots from in front of him that were louder and seemed closer. 3/26/14 RP 18. He dropped to the ground near the car and heard a third volley of shots, again from behind in the direction of the club. 3/26/14 RP 18-19, 21. Mr. Smith tried to get into the car when the windows broke from gunfire, so he ran towards the research center. 3/31/14 RP 12, 18. It was later determined that the officers shot and shattered four windows on the car. 3/26/14 RP 34; Ex. 23. When the shooting stopped, Mr. Chambers heard a person cry out, "I'm hit, I'm hit." 3/26/14 RP 21. Mr. Chambers and Mr. Smith were arrested and subsequently released. 3/26/14 RP 21, 38; 3/31/14 RP 15.

Arnulfo Aserios, a security officer for Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, gave yet another description of the incident. He observed "hundreds" of people in the club parking lot across Fairview Avenue North and he noticed three men start to cross the street from Citrus towards the research center. 3/27/14 RP 5, 12, 17. In the middle of the street, the men stopped, turned back toward the club, drew guns, shot three or four times in the direction of the club, and then ran towards the research center. 3/27/14 RP 17-18. According to Mr. Aserios, two of the men were wearing dark hooded sweatshirts and the third man, whom he identified as Mr. Daley, was wearing a light hooded sweatshirt. 3/27/14 RP 18, 22.

Mr. Daley was charged with four counts of assault in the first degree, Count 1 against a generic "John Doe," Count 2 against Detective Huber, Count 3 against Detective James, and Count 4 against Detective Hughey, each count alleged to have been committed while Mr. Daley was armed with a firearm. CP 12-13. In addition, Mr. Daley was charged with two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 14. He waived his right to a jury trial. CP 10-11. Judge William Downing heard testimony from the witnesses and viewed footage from several security videotapes from the research center. Ex. 2. Mr. Daley was convicted as charged. CP 17-23.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A criminal defendant's fundamental right to due process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); *City of Seattle v. Slack*, 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989); U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. The State bears the burden of producing sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of a crime charged. *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 364; *State v. Deer*, 175 Wn.2d 725, 731, 287 P.3d 539 (2012). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential

elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S.Ct. 628, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1970); *accord State v. Rose*, 175 Wn.2d 10, 14, 282 P.3d 1087 (2012).

RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a) provides:

- (1) A person is guilty of assault in the first degree if he or she, with intent to inflict great bodily harm:
- (a) Assaults another with a firearm nor any deadly weapon or by any force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death; or
- (b) Administers, exposes, or transmits to or causes to be taken by another, poison, the human immunodeficiency virus as defined in chapter 70.24 RCW, or any other destructive or noxious substance; or
 - (c) Assaults another and inflicts great bodily harm.

Washington courts recognize three common law definitions of "assault," which is not defined by statute: "(1) an unlawful touching (actual battery); (2) an attempt with unlawful force to inflict bodily injury upon another, tending but failing to accomplish it (attempted battery); and (3) putting another in apprehension of harm." *State v. Elmi*, 166 Wn.2d 209, 215, 207 P.3d 439 (2009). No actual battery was committed here, so only attempted battery and apprehension of harm are at issue.²

² Mr. Daley was not charged with assault against Mr. Hallmon.

- Insufficient evidence was presented to support Mr. Daley's conviction for assault in the first degree against a generic "John Doe," as charged in Count
 - a. The assault in the first degree statute requires specific intent to assault an identified victim.

Assault in the first degree is a specific intent offense that requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had the specific intent to assault an identified victim. *Elmi*, 166 Wn.2d at 218; *State v. Thomas*, 123 Wn. App. 771, 779, 98 P.3d 1258 (2004). The requisite quantum of specificity to identify an intended victim is an issue of first impression in this jurisdiction. Other jurisdictions that have considered this issue require, as a minimum, a description of the intended victim. For example, in *Edmund v. State*, the defendant challenged the sufficiency of the charging document that alleged he committed first degree assault, in violation of Maryland Code (2002) Criminal Law Article (CL) § 3-202, 3 against a victim who was described in detail, but who was not identified by name.

³ CL § 3-202 provides in relevant part:

⁽a) Prohibited .--...

⁽²⁾ A person may not commit an assault with a firearm, including:

⁽i) a handgun....

CL § 3-201(b) defines assault as "the crimes of assault, battery, and assault and battery, which retain their judicially determined meanings," to wit: "(1) an attempt to commit a battery or (2) an intentional placing of another in apprehension of receiving an immediate battery." *Edmund*, 921 A.2d at 269.

398 Md. 562, 921 A.2d 264, 267 (2007). The charging document included a description of the victim.

Physical description is a black male, approximately five feet eight inches tall, 240 pounds, with a beard and mustache, wearing a black puffy jacket, brown hooded sweatshirt and red skull cap.

Id. The defendant confessed to shooting the victim with whom he had ongoing problems but whose name he did not know. Id. at 266. On the day of the incident, the victim engaged the defendant in a verbal confrontation, pointed his finger in the defendant's face, and followed the defendant, cursing and waving his finger, as the defendant walked to his apartment. Id. The defendant's brother was inside the apartment where the defendant retrieved a handgun, and the two went outside to confront the victim. Id. Outside, the victim challenged the defendant to a fight, the defendant drew his handgun, and he then shot at the victim at close range. Id. 266-67. The defendant's brother witnessed the incident and provided the physical description of the victim. Id. at 266. The Maryland appellate court upheld the conviction on the grounds the charging document contained sufficient detail to provide notice of the criminal conduct charged, especially since the defendant confessed to shooting the victim. Id. at 272. See also Akins v. United States, 679 A.2d 1017, 1021 (D.C. 1996), superseded on other grounds by Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158

L.Ed.2d 177 (2004) (affirming defendant's conviction for assault during a robbery against unnamed victim when the assault was memorialized on film by a co-defendant from such close range that "the fear in the victim's eyes is clearly visible" and the victim could heard repeatedly asking why he was being assaulted); *State v. Conroy*, 118 So.3d 305, 312 n.10 (Fla. 2013) ("Because ... aggravated assault,[4] ... [is] a specific intent crime, the requisite intent must be directed toward a specific victim....").

 The constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy and the right to a unanimous verdict require identification of an intended victim.

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