NO. 71956-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LARRY D. DALEY, JR.,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE WILLIAM DOWNING

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

JACOB R. BROWN
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 477-9497

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS DIV I
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2015 APR 24 PM 3:40

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT FOR A REASONABLE FACT TRIER TO FIND THAT DALEY ASSAULTED “JOHN DOE” BY SHOOTING AT HIM.

a. Additional Facts.

In closing argument, the State argued that Daley fired his pistol at one or more of the men with whom he was arguing, and that, at that time, there were over 100 people in the crowd beyond. 7RP 48, 52. “John Doe” was one of the men that Daley was arguing with outside of the club. 7RP 52. The court clarified that the State was asking to find that John Doe was a stand-in for a single, unidentified victim among the many people outside of the club that night:

Prosecutor: The State is going to ask Your Honor to find the defendant guilty of several counts, specifically assault in the first degree for John Doe, which is the individual that Mr. Daley was shooting at as he was aiming toward [the] Citrus Club

Court: As far as John Doe is concerned, it's your view that the—of the 100 people, one of them was John Doe or we'll treat as being John Doe, or that it would be legally problematic to allege or to find 100 John Does, but a single one is—

Prosecutor: That is correct, You Honor.

7RP 48. The prosecutor added that the principle of transferred intent could apply to the court's finding that John Doe had been assaulted. 7RP 50.

The trial court found that more than a hundred club patrons were present outside of Citrus when Daley had a verbal altercation with a group of men and fired a handgun in the direction of the crowd, including the group of men.⁷ CP 18, 21; 7RP 48. The court also explained that, in doing so, Daley assaulted at least one of them, and that John Doe represented one such victim:

11. When he fired his handgun at the crowd of unidentified people, the defendant, with the intent to inflict great bodily harm, did assault more than one of them with a firearm. The name "John Doe" is used in a representative sense to stand for simply one of these unidentified individuals.

CP 21. The court thus concluded that Daley was guilty of the crime of first-degree assault as charged in Count One. CP 22.

⁷ While the trial court simply referred in its findings to "the crowd," it is apparent from the trial court's discussion with the prosecutor during closing argument that the trial court used this term to include everyone in front of the nightclub, including the men involved in the argument with Daley. CP 18, 21; 7RP 48, 52.

b. Standard Of Review.

Evidence is sufficient to support a criminal conviction if, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational fact trier could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State’s evidence, as well as all reasonable inferences from the evidence, which must be drawn in favor of the State and against the defendant. Id. An appellate court defers to the trier of fact on all “issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence.” State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004), abrogated in part on other grounds by Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004).

c. Sufficient Evidence Proved That Daley Committed First-Degree Assault When He Shot A Handgun At “John Doe” On Fairview Avenue, As Charged In Count One.

Daley asserts that the State failed to adduce sufficient proof of the identity of an intended victim, necessary to sustain his conviction for first-degree assault against “John Doe.”⁸ He declares that “[t]he requisite

⁸ Daley also assigns error to several of the trial court’s findings of fact, claiming that they are unsupported by “substantial evidence.” Br. of App’t at 1-2. Because the ultimate question in this appeal is simply whether the evidence was sufficient for a reasonable fact finder to find that the elements of the crime were proven beyond a reasonable doubt—not

quantum of specificity to identify an intended victim is an issue of first impression in this jurisdiction.” Br. of App’t at 12. Daley fundamentally misapprehends the elements of first-degree assault.

The State was not actually required to prove the identity of an intended victim. Instead, the State needed only to prove that Daley had the intent to inflict great bodily harm and that, acting with that intent, he assaulted another with a firearm. Because the evidence at trial—that Daley argued with a group of men and then fired multiple shots at them with a handgun, in the direction of a crowd of over 100 people—amply proved these elements, Daley’s conviction should be affirmed.

A person commits first-degree assault when he, “with intent to inflict great bodily harm . . . [a]ssaults another with a firearm[.]” RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a). This crime has four elements: that the defendant, with (1) intent to inflict great bodily harm, (2) assaulted (3) another (4) with a firearm. State v. Elmi, 166 Wn.2d 209, 214-15, 207 P.3d 439 (2009). The name of a victim is not an element of assault. State v. Plano, 67 Wn. App. 674, 679-80, 838 P.2d 1145 (1992).

whether any specific findings were supported by “substantial evidence,” a standard alien to a sufficiency challenge—the State discusses the evidence more broadly than Daley attempts to frame it. Regardless, all of the trial court’s findings are sufficiently supported, as should be made apparent herein.

Daley’s challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence proving the identity of an intended victim confuses the relationship between the intent and victim elements of the crime. The State reviews both elements below.

First-degree assault is a specific intent crime, meaning that the State must prove that the defendant actually intended to inflict great bodily harm. Elmi, 166 Wn.2d at 215. But the specific intent to inflict great bodily harm need not be directed toward any specific victim. Elmi, 166 Wn.2d at 215-18; State v. Wilson, 125 Wn.2d 212, 218, 883 P.2d 320 (1994). Instead, “once the intent to inflict great bodily harm is established, *usually*”—therefore, not always—“by proving that the defendant intended to inflict great bodily harm on a specific person, the mens rea is transferred under RCW 9A.36.011 to any unintended victim.” Elmi, 166 Wn.2d at 218; see Wilson, 125 Wn.2d at 218. In other words, the identity of an intended victim is not, in and of itself, an element of first-degree assault.⁹ In a typical assault case, where the victim is known, the State would of course seek to prove the specific identity of the intended victim—but not to satisfy an independent element of the crime. Instead, as the Washington Supreme Court has observed, such proof

⁹ Thus, while Daley quotes a Florida case for the proposition that the requisite intent must be directed toward a specific victim, this simply is not the law in Washington. Br. of App’t at 14 (quoting State v. Conroy, 118 So.3d 305, 312 n.10 (Fla. 2013)).

serves as evidence of the defendant's intent.¹⁰ See Elmi, 166 Wn.2d at 218; Wilson, 125 Wn.2d at 218. But proof of a defendant's intent to inflict great bodily harm is not limited to evidence of a specific intended victim.

“Evidence of intent . . . is to be gathered from all of the circumstances of the case, including not only the manner and act of [the assault], but also the nature of the prior relationship and any previous threats.” Wilson, 125 Wn.2d at 217 (internal quotation marks omitted). Specific intent “can be inferred as a logical probability from all the facts and circumstances.” Id.

Daley does not argue (nor could he seriously contend) that the evidence was insufficient to prove that he intended to inflict great bodily harm when he fired multiple shots from a semiautomatic handgun at a group of men he had been arguing with, who were standing a mere ten feet away, with a crowd of over 100 people beyond.¹¹ Nor does he argue that

¹⁰ Logically, it may also serve to prove the actual victim element of the crime, i.e., that the defendant assaulted “another.” See RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a). But as noted, Daley does not claim that the State failed to prove that a person was actually assaulted by his actions—he instead claims, essentially, that the State failed to prove who he was aiming at.

¹¹ “A person acts with intent or intentionally when he or she acts with the objective or purpose to accomplish a result which constitutes a crime.” RCW 9A.08.010(1)(a). “Great bodily harm” is defined as “bodily injury which creates a probability of death, or which causes significant serious permanent disfigurement, or which causes a significant permanent loss or impairment of the function of any bodily part or organ.” RCW 9A.04.110(4)(c). By shooting at the group of men, Daley easily could have killed any

shooting a handgun in these circumstances was insufficient to constitute an assault.¹² Thus, the sole remaining question is whether the evidence was sufficient for a reasonable fact finder to find that Daley assaulted *another*.

In answering this question, a decision of the California Court of Appeals with remarkably similar facts is instructive.¹³ In People v. Griggs, 216 Cal. App. 3d 734, 265 Cal. Rptr. 53 (Cal. Ct. App. 1989) (opinion published in part), an officer was assigned to patrol a parking lot during a concert. 216 Cal. App. 3d at 737. When the concert ended, the crowd gathered to leave, with many people running about and others attempting to drive through the congestion. Id. The officer then saw the defendant pull out a revolver and fire at least two shots into the crowd. Id. The audience scattered and fled, and no victims were identified. Id. at 743.

one of them. 2RP 61-63. The crowd of club patrons in the parking lot were also in Daley's line of fire. 2RP 66; 6RP 64.

¹² The term "assault" in Washington retains its common law definitions. Wilson, 125 Wn.2d at 217-18. The three recognized definitions are: "(1) an attempt, with unlawful force, to inflict bodily injury upon another [attempted battery]; (2) an unlawful touching with criminal intent [actual battery]; and (3) putting another in apprehension of harm whether or not the actor intends to inflict or is capable of inflicting that harm [common law assault]." Id. at 218 (insertions original). Although the State in this case could not prove that any person was struck by Daley's gunfire, Daley committed attempted battery by firing the handgun at the men and the crowd; the fact that the men and the crowd scattered also proved an apprehension of harm.

¹³ Daley argues that Edmund v. State, 398 Md. 562, 921 A.2d 264 (Md. 2007) illustrates the level of specificity necessary to prove the identity of an assault victim. Br. of App't at 12-13. But Edmund entailed an assault on a single person, not a crowd shooting such as in the case at bar. 398 Md. at 564-67. Edmund is inapposite.

The defendant was charged with assault with a deadly weapon. 216 Cal. App. 3d at 736; see Cal. Penal Code § 245(a)(2) (West). In California, this crime requires the prosecution to prove “that a person was assaulted and that the assault was committed by the use of a deadly weapon or instrument or by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury.”¹⁴ 216 Cal. App. 3d at 739-40.

The defendant moved at trial to dismiss, arguing that the name of the victim was a material element of the crime and that the prosecution had failed to offer any proof of this element. 216 Cal. App. 3d at 738. The trial court denied the motion and the defendant was convicted as charged. Id. at 738-39.

On appeal, the defendant renewed his claim that the identity of the victim was a necessary element of the offense, and also asserted that the lack of a named victim made it impossible for him to defend himself. 216 Cal. App. 3d at 739. Analyzing the penal code and California case law, the court concluded that the victim’s specific identity was immaterial to proving the crime:

To understand what constitutes the “person of another” for our purposes, we focus on the actions of the defendant. The victim’s fear, lack of fear, injury, or lack of injury are not elements which

¹⁴ Unlike in Washington, assault with a deadly weapon in California is a general intent crime—but this means only that the crime requires the intent to commit a battery, not the intent to cause any specific level of injury. Griggs, 216 Cal. App. 3d at 740; see also People v. Parks, 4 Cal. 3d 955, 959, 485 P.2d 257, 95 Cal. Rptr. 193 (Cal. 1971).

need to be proved or disproved. *All that is necessary is that there is a victim; the characteristics of the victim are not critical elements of the offense.* The law is seeking to punish the reckless disregard of human life, and what needs to be shown is that a human life was threatened in the manner proscribed [W]e conclude the naming of the particular victim is not an element of assault with a deadly weapon[.]

Id. at 742 (emphasis added). Thus, because “the defendant was clearly aware of the crowd assembled in the direction in which he fired the gun[.] . . . [a]ny one of a number of [the] intended victims [could] satisfy the component of the ‘person of another.’” Id.

Having concluded that the specific identity of a victim was not a material element of the offense, the Griggs court next considered and rejected the defendant’s due process argument—that the lack of an identified victim denied him the ability to mount an effective defense. While Daley does not assert that he was denied the ability to mount an effective defense,¹⁵ the Griggs court’s analysis is once again instructive on the issue of victim specificity:

[D]efendant shot into a crowd of people. By pure chance, no one was injured. The crowd dispersed and left the scene of the crime, presumably to escape the dangerous situation. Law enforcement’s concern during this dangerous time was to check for injured people and apprehend those causing the danger. The victims fled the scene and were unknown to law enforcement. This was not due to any lack of diligence on the police officers’ part. Due process is not offended in this type of unusual situation where a particular victim is not identified. Public policy would be offended to allow

¹⁵ Daley’s defense was essentially one of mistaken identity. 7RP 77, 89.

a defendant to fire a gun in the direction of a human being under these circumstances and not be punished for an assault with a deadly weapon.

216 Cal. App. 3d at 743.

Because the name of a victim is also not an element of assault in Washington, and because the evidence established that Daley fired directly at a group of three to five men from a distance of ten feet, who scattered in obvious apprehension of harm, the evidence was sufficient to prove that Daley assaulted “another.” See RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a). Neither a general notion of due process nor the requirement of sufficient proof was violated by the instant prosecution. Because “[a]n indiscriminate would-be killer is just as culpable as one who targets a specific person,”¹⁶ Daley’s claim should be rejected.

Daley makes two more claims related to his conviction on Count One that must be addressed here: that double jeopardy protections mandate the dismissal of this case and that his right to a unanimous verdict required an identified victim. Both claims are unavailing.

Double jeopardy claims are reviewed *de novo*. State v. Kelley, 168 Wn.2d 72, 76, 226 P.3d 773 (2010). “The United States Constitution provides that a person may not be subject ‘for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb.’” State v. Chouap, 170 Wn. App. 114, 122,

¹⁶ People v. Stone, 92 Cal. Rptr. 3d 362, 369, 46 Cal. 4th 131, 140, 205 P.3d 272 (Cal. 2009).

285 P.3d 138 (2012) (quoting U.S. Const. amend. V). The Washington Constitution similarly provides that a person may not be put in jeopardy twice for the same offense. Chouap, 170 Wn. App. at 122 (citing Wash. Const. art. I, § 9). Daley does not argue that he has been put in jeopardy twice for the same offense. Instead, he argues that at some time in the future he may. This claim is hypothetical and not ripe for review. See State v. Sanchez, 177 Wn.2d 835, 848, 306 P.3d 935 (2013) (claim of hypothetical violation not ripe for review); Lewis Cnty. v. State, 178 Wn. App. 431, 440, 315 P.3d 550 (2013) (“If a claim is speculative and hypothetical, it is not ripe.”).

A prospective double jeopardy claim similar to Daley’s was also dismissed as “fanciful” in Edmund, the Maryland case upon which Daley principally relies. 398 Md. at 577. There, the court held that there was no credible scenario in which the lack of a named victim would subject the defendant to double punishment:

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